An update on drug treatment options of Alzheimer's disease

Michael Allgaier², Clemens Allgaier¹

¹Rudolf-Boehm-Institute of Pharmacology and Toxicology and PGS Toxikologie und Umweltschutz, University of Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany; ACA-pharma concept GmbH, Deutscher Platz 5, 04103 Leipzig, Germany, ²Unitat de Farmacologia i Farmacognòsia, Facultat de Farmàcia, Institut de Biomedicina (IBUB), Centros de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Enfermedades Neurodegenerativas (CIBERNED), Universitat de Barcelona, Spain

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Mechanisms underlying dementia of the Alzheimer type
- 4. Drugs approved for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease
 - *4.1. Acetylcholine esterase inhibitors*
 - 4.1.1. Rivastigmine
 - 4.1.2. Donepezil
 - 4.1.3. Galantamine
 - 4.2. Memantine

4.3. Conclusion

5. Promising new therapeutic approaches

5.1. Drugs that target at tau pathology

- 5.2. Combined treatment of memantine plus vitamin D
- 5.3. Conclusion

6. References

1. ABSTRACT

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is characterized by progressive decrease in cognitive function and loss of short-term memory known to be associated with a dysfunction of the cholinergic system. The pathological hallmarks of AD are beta-amyloid (Abeta) plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) consisting of hyperphosphorylated tau. Hypercholesterolemia and disturbances in glucose metabolism are another risk factors. During the last two decades therapeutic strategies were mainly targeting the Abeta hypothesis. As this approach virtually failed to show a significant clinical benefit research on potential therapeutics has been shifted to tau pathology. However, also this approach has as yet not vielded in new therapeutics. Hence, rebalancing the cholinergic input to improve the cognitive symptoms of AD by inhibition of acetylcholine esterase (AChE) is still the only mechanistic target in addition to N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor blockade by memantine that can be addressed by currently approved medications. Despite the fact that the available AChE inhibitors are directed at an identical target they exhibit some pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic features that should be considered when used clinically.

2. INTRODUCTION

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is one of the most disabling conditions that affect the elderly, and is likely to become a major health problem since the proportion of the elderly population is continuously increasing. In 2006, AD affected more than 26 million people worldwide (1). On average, the life expectancy following diagnosis is approximately seven years (2). In the United States, about 5.3. million people currently suffer from AD (3-4), and more than half of these individuals are categorized as being moderately or severely affected (4). These advanced stages of AD may extend over a period of several years and are often most challenging for patients and caregivers (3).

AD that is characterized by a progressive decrease in cognitive function and loss of short-term memory is known for more than 30 years to be associated with a dysfunction of the cholinergic system (5). Early histologic studies showing loss of cholinergic activity as AD progresses have meanwhile been supplemented by advanced imaging techniques, including positron emission tomography and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Diminution in cortical acetylcholine esterase (AChE) activity in patients with mild to moderate AD (6-7) is correlated with an increase in cognitive deficits (8). In addition, atrophy of the nucleus basalis of Meynert, the primary cholinergic input to the cortex, was observed in patients with AD using MRI (9).

Significant loss of acetylcholine, acetylcholine transferase and high-affinity choline uptake occurs in brain areas associated with memory and learning, i.e. the hippocampus and cortex. In addition, diminution of cholinergic activity in AD patients is associated with cognitive deficits as measured by dementia rating scales (4). Cholinergic dysfunction associated with AD is not considered the cause but a consequence of the still not completely understood pathophysiological mechanisms, and is one of the few mechanistic targets that can be addressed by currently approved treatment options. Accordingly, the strategy of rebalancing the cholinergic input to improve the cognitive symptoms of AD has been a primary but still on-going therapeutic approach. Enhancement of cognitive function occurs when the action of acetylcholine is increased by inhibition of its metabolizing enzymes, primarily AChE (10).

In addition to the degeneration of the cholinergic system, AD is associated with an increased loss of glutamatergic neurons (11) accompanied by disturbances in *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) and α -amino-3-hydroxy-5methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA)-receptor expression in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus (12). Moreover, there may be a dysfunction in remaining glutaminergic neurons, as the ability of glial cells to remove glutamate from the synaptic cleft was impaired in various brain regions including the temporal cortex (13). The raised background concentration ("noise") of glutamate may enhance the depolarization frequency of the postsynaptic membrane, and as a consequence, may reduce the detection of physiological NMDA receptor-mediated signals. Accordingly, this dysfunction in glutamate neurotransmission may contribute to cognitive impairment in AD (13).

In 2002, the NMDA receptor antagonist memantine was approved by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) for the treatment of moderate to severe AD. Rather than simply providing a complete block of the NMDA receptor, memantine exhibits moderate voltage dependence and fast blocking/unblocking kinetics. There is evidence that these characteristics allow it to block the NMDA receptor channel during the constant background 'noise' of pathological glutamatergic activation (13). Although memantine could cause improvements in symptoms and cognition, as with AChE inhibitors its effectiveness diminishes as AD proceeds (14).

The present review provides a brief summary on the presently approved AD medication as well as on some other therapeutic approaches that could be promising based on currently discussed pathophysiological mechanisms. It hardly needs mentioning that the selection of new therapeutics is bound to be subjective and is not intended to be exhaustive as well.

3. MECHANISMS UNDERLYING DEMENTIA OF THE ALZHEIMER TYPE

AD is characterized by marked atrophy of the cerebral cortex and loss of cortical and subcortical neurons (15). The pathological hallmarks of AD are senile plaques. represented by spherical accumulations of beta-amyloid (Abeta) and neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs; also referred to helical filaments) of paired consisting as hyperphosphorylated tau (16, 17,18). However, also in about 30 percent of normal-aged individuals a similar amount of Abeta plaques is found as in AD patients (19). Obviously, both Abeta plaques and NFTs are of multifactorial origin and not unique to AD.

Early onset familial AD is an uncommon form of the disease accounting for only about 1 percent of all Alzheimer cases. It is diagnosed usually between the age of 50 and 65 and is due to autosomal dominant mutations in one of at least three genes encoding the transmembrane proteins, amyloid precursor protein (APP), presinilin 1, or presinilin 2. The presenilins represent the catalytic core of γ -secretase intramembrane protease (20).

In contrast, the primary cause of the common sporadic form of AD accounting for the remaining 99 percent of Alzheimer cases is as yet not fully understood. Complex interactions of genetic and environmental risk factors presumably contribute to the evolvement of the disease that normally affects people aged older than 65 years (16-17).

Abeta (39-42 amino acid peptide) is generated by proteolytic cleavage by beta- and gamma-secretase also in regular APP turnover. However, in particular, the 42 amino acid Abeta aggregates easily and forms extracellular senile plaques. Abeta deposits are considered to influence synaptic function and to lead to apoptosis of neuronal cells (20).

Abeta degradation is mediated through insulindegrading enzyme and neprilysin. An imbalance in Abeta formation and clearance results in formation of senile Abeta plaques (21). Evidently next to the aggregated plaques soluble highly toxic and detrimental Abeta oligomers exist (22). Abeta oligomers are related to early memory loss by blocking long-term potentiation (23). Polyclonal antibodies directed against pathologic AD brainspecific Abeta oligomers (M94) showed in rat hippocampal neurons highly specific binding, characterized by clusters within neuritic arbors. In addition, an overexpression of morphology changing actin-binding protein (Arc) was shown in dendritic spines, possibly leading to receptor dysfunction (23). De Felice et al. (2008) (24) demonstrated that next to synthetic soluble Abeta oligomers also Abeta oligomer-containing soluble extracts from AD brains increased tau hyperphosphorylation. Apparently only neurons with trypsin-sensitive sites are targeted by these Abeta oligomers. More recent studies underline the detrimental effect of Abeta oligomer-induced tau phosphorylation on the microtubule structure resulting in loss of axonal transport and synaptic decomposition (25).

This selective neuronal vulnerability suggests the microtubule cytoskeleton as valid therapeutic target for the treatment of AD (24).

In AD brain, tau was by about 3-4 fold more phosphorylated at Ser-199/202 than tau from control brains (26). Hyperphosphorylation of tau leads to massive detachment from microtubules that in turn greatly reduce microtubule stability in nerve cells. Several protein kinases (MAPKs) such as cdk5 and glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3beta) may be involved in tau phosphorylation. In addition, MAPKs contribute to excitotoxicity, synaptic plasticity and neuroinflammation. The stress-activated enzyme p38 capable of inducing apoptosis is increased in AD brain compared to age-matched normal brain; moreover, phospho-p38-immunoreactivity correlates with high incidence of senile Abeta plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (20, 27). Obviously, the GTPase-dependent p38 MAPK signalling pathway contributes in different ways to the pathological feature of AD (28).

The most important tau phosphatase is protein phosphatase-2A (PP2A). AD-induced decrease of PP2A also contributes to tau hyperphosphorylation due to impaired tau dephosphorylation (29).

Also calcium homeostasis is affected in AD pathology as Abeta induces L-type voltage-sensitive calcium channels (LVSCC) that in conjunction with the over-excitation of postsynaptic NMDA receptors causes an excessive entry of calcium into the post-synaptic neuron eventually leading to neuronal death (30).

Hypercholesterolemia is another risk factor for developing AD. As apolipoprotein E (APO-E) transports cholesterol and lipoproteins in the circulation it has a large influence on blood lipid levels. APO-E deficiency leads to higher levels of blood cholesterol, as shown in APO-E knockout mice fed with low fat diet that had increased blood cholesterol levels compared with the wild-type control group. The most common allele APO-E epsilon3 is expressed in more than 70 percent of the population, whereas only about 15 percent express APO-E epsilon4. APO-E epsilon4 increases the individual risk for developing AD by 3-4 fold and 40 percent of AD patients exhibit the APO-E-epsilon4 allele. According to Small et al. (2000) (31) carriers of APO-E epsilon4 who developed AD have lowered parietal, temporal and posterior cingulate glucose levels, leading to significant cognitive impairment after two years of longitudinal follow up. Apparently APO-E epsilon4 is also involved in Abeta-clearance and tau phosphorylation. C-terminal-truncated aggregated APO-E epsilon4 fragments caused NFT-like inclusions in cultured neuronal cells as well as in APO-E epsilon4 transgenic mice (32).

During the last two decades research and therapeutic strategies were mainly targeting the Abeta hypothesis thereby ignoring the fact that no correlation has been found between Abeta plaques and dementia. On the contrary, drugs influencing Abeta clearance or production that have been successfully tested on animals failed to show a significant benefit in humans and occasionally even worsened the condition of treated AD patients compared to placebo (19). For that reason recent therapeutic research has shifted from the Abeta focused strategies to tau pathology due to an obvious correlation between NFTs and dementia (33).

It is well established that brain glucose metabolism is impaired in Alzheimer's disease; vice versa AD is known to deteriorate already existing pathologic insulin changes (34). Impaired brain glucose metabolism leads to abnormal hyperphosphorylation of tau and neurofibrillary degeneration via downregulation of tau O-GlcNAcylation in Alzheimer's disease (35). Consequently, restoration of brain tau O-GlcNAcvlation could be an option for the treatment of AD. In AD brains, e.g. levels of insulin receptor substrate mRNA, tau mRNA, and phosphotidylinositol 3-kinase were reduced, whereas glycogen synthase kinase-3beta activity and APP mRNA expression were enhanced. As in addition the expression of genes encoding insulin and insulin-like growth factors were reduced in a manner that resembled changes observed in diabetes mellitus, AD was referred to as "diabetes type 3" (36).

In insulin-receptor substrate 2-knockout mice tau phosphorylation at Ser-202 was increased (37). Functional insulin receptor signalling induces GSK-3beta inactivation. whereas dysfunction of insulin receptor signaling provoking insulin resistance caused dephosphorylation and activation of GSK-3beta. Thus in insulin-resistant individuals, such as type 2 diabetes patients, there is an increase in GSK-3beta activity due to glucose clearance (38). Also primary cultured hippocampal neurons with a mutation in presenilin 1 gene showed an increased GSK-3beta activity, whereas down-regulation of GSK-3beta via the Akt signaling pathway caused less Abeta and NFT formation (39). In summary, these findings support a correlation among AD-associated tau phosphorylation, impaired glucose metabolism, and reduced insulin sensitivity.

Apart from Abeta plaques and NFTs other pathologies have been observed in AD brains. In AD patients brain mass was decreased by 5-fold compared to normal loss of 0.5. percent of the brain mass/year. Impaired cell differentiation and regeneration due to developed AD pathologies mainly in the hippocampus result in rapid progression of the neurodegeneration in AD patients (19).

In conclusion, AD is a multifactorial disease. As the underlying pathomechanisms take place years before clinical onset an adequate therapy should comprise inhibition of neuronal degeneration and stimulation of neuronal regeneration as well as rebalancing the cholinergic input.

4. DRUGS APPROVED FOR THE TREATMENT OF ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

Four approved medications comprising three AChE inhibitors and memantine are currently available to

Medication	Oral dose (mg/d)	Mode of action	Pharmacokinetics	
Rivastigmine ¹ (Exelon [®])	3 – 6 patch: 4.6 or 9.5 mg/24 h)	Brain-selective, carbamate-type, "pseudo" irreversible inhibitor of AChE and BuChE	T _{max} Half-life Protein binding Bioavailability Metabolism Excretion	0.5 – 2 h 1.5 h (10 h pharmacodynamic) 40% 36% non-hepatic renal
Donepezil (Aricept [®])	5 – 23 (once daily)	Specific, uncompetitive reversible inhibitor of AChE, mainly CNS active	T _{max} Half-life Protein binding Metabolism Excretion	3 – 4 h 70 h 95% CYP2D6/CYP3A4 ² renal
Galantamine (Razadyne [®])	8 - 24	Potent, competitive and reversible inhibitor of AChE	T _{max} C _{max} Protein binding Bioavailability Metabolism Excretion	1 h 4 – 5 h 18% 90% CYP2D6/CYP3A4 ² renal
Memantine (Namenda [®])	5-20	Uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonist	T _{max} Protein binding Metabolism Excretion	3 – 8 h 45% partial hepatic, not CYP ² dependent renal

Table 1. Basic properties of AChE inhibitors and memantine

¹: Transdermal patches of rivastigmine are available; they may exhibit a favourable tolerability profile compared to oral dosages, ²: CYP: cvtochrome P450 monooxygenase

treat AD. All AChE inhibitors (donepezil, Aricept[®]; rivastigmine, Exelon[®]; galantamine, Razadyne[®]) are indicated for the treatment of *mild to moderate* AD; in the US and Japan, donepezil can be used for *severe* AD as well (40, 41,42). Tacrine (Cognex[®]) was the first drug for the treatment of the memory problems of AD approved by the FDA in 1993, but was of limited clinical significance due to the potential of severe side effects, in particular hepatoxicity. In the US, tacrine has been withdrawn from use in 2013, because of concerns on safety and availability of other AChE with a better adverse event profile. The un-competitive NMDA receptor antagonist memantine (Namenda[®]) is indicated to treat *moderate to severe* AD (43).

4.1. Acetylcholine esterase inhibitors

Among the different therapeutics that may be used to modify cholinergic neurotransmission, only AChE inhibitors have been modestly effective and have been approved as medicinal drugs indicated for AD (41). They prolong the actions of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine at the synaptic cleft stimulating presynaptic muscarine and nicotine receptors, the number of which is decreased in patients with AD (44).

The three commonly used cholinesterase inhibitors, rivastigmine, donepezil and galantamine, have virtually the same general mechanism of action, but differ substantially in terms of other pharmacological properties (Table 1), which may affect their safety and tolerability profiles. For a given AChE inhibitor the incidence of adverse effects is directly related to the dose administered. Nausea, vomiting, and diarrhoea are the most common adverse events are; cardiovascular and neurologic adverse effects are comparable (45). Rivastigmine is in addition available as transdermal patch (Exelon[®]) that appears better tolerated than oral rivastigmine (46).

4.1.1. Rivastigmine

Rivastigmine tartrate is a brain-selective, slowly reversible inhibitor of AChE and butyrylcholine esterase

(BuChE). As it has been demonstrated that BuChE levels increase with progressive loss of neurons in AD and may take over the function to metabolise acetylcholine at the synapse, there may be at least a theoretical advantage of a dual inhibitor of AChE and BuChE over a selective AChE inhibitor in the treatment of AD (46). A result supporting this idea was obtained in patients with minimal to mild AD treated for 20 weeks with various AChE inhibitors. The rivastigmine group did not show the widespread cortical atrophic changes in parietotemporal regions reported in untreated AD patients, that were also detectable in the subgroups treated with selective AChE inhibitors (47).

Rivastigmine is a carbamate-type, selective inhibitor of AChE and BuChE. It is cleaved by AChE by transferring the carbamoyl moiety onto the active site of the enzyme that thereby becomes inactivated. *In vitro* studies using rat brain tissue demonstrated that carbamylated AChE required more than 24 h to become re-activated (48-49). Hence, due to the prolonged inhibition of AChE rivastigmine may be classified as pseudo-irreversible agent (48). Rivastigmine lacks binding affinity for dopaminergic, opioid, muscarinic, nicotinic, and α - and β -adrenergic receptors.

Several isoforms of AChE have been identified, with identical amino acid sequences, but with different posttranslational modifications, locations, and functions (49). The predominant form of AChE in the cortical and hippocampal regions of the normal brain is the membranebound globular tetrameric form, G4, with a small amount of the monomeric form, G1. This may have clinical significance, as a selective loss of membrane-associated G4 isoform was observed in patients with AD, whereas the level of G1 in these patients was largely unchanged (49). Rivastigmine, by inhibiting the G1 isoform of AChE, could increase ACh levels in the remaining cholinergic terminal in AD. Preferential inhibition of the G1 isoform may also account for the selectivity of rivastigmine for central over peripheral AChE, since the brain contains appreciable amounts of G1, whereas G4 is the predominant isoform in the presynaptic membrane of the neuromuscular junction in skeletal muscle. This selectivity for central AChE may minimize peripheral adverse events related to heart and muscle (46).

Various clinical phase II and phase III studies with oral rivastigmine demonstrate beneficial effects for patients with mild to moderate AD (50). At daily doses of 6 to 12 mg compared to placebo, improvements were seen in the rate of decline of cognitive function, activities of daily living, and severity of dementia. A post hoc analysis of several studies suggests that rivastigmine may slow the cognitive decline for up to five years (51). Adverse events were consistent with the cholinergic actions of the drug such as nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, and anorexia.

Transdermal patches appear associated with fewer side effects than the corresponding oral dosages at comparable efficacy (46, 52). For example, the IDEAL study, a 24-week, multicentre, double-blind, doubledummy, placebo- and active-controlled trial in 1,195 patients, and its 28-week, open-label phase extension demonstrated comparable efficacy of rivastigmine transdermal patches (9.5. mg/24 h) with rivastigmine capsules (12 mg/d) and an improved frequency of adverse events.

4.1.2. Donepezil

Donepezil, is a piperidine based, potent, specific, non-competitive and reversible inhibitor of AChE (53-54). It is structurally dissimilar from the other cholinesterase inhibitors, rivastigmine and galantamine and has a half-life of approximately 70 h. Accordingly, it is given once daily in contrast to the other oral AChE inhibitors. Some data suggest a neuroprotective effect of donepezil by reducing glutamate excitotoxicity and Abeta toxicity as well as slowed progression of hippocampal atrophy (55-56).

Donepezil was the first rational treatment available in the UK for AD and as such received considerable attention. Patients with mild, moderate or severe AD treated for up 52 weeks with donepezil experienced benefits in cognitive function, activities of daily living and behaviour (57). If well tolerated, donepezil should be continued in the severe stages of AD as long as the patient appears to benefit from a slower clinical decline. In addition to the 10-mg dose, a 23-mg dose is available that is an efficacious therapy for moderate to severe AD, with or without concomitant memantine, extending the treatment opportunities available to manage moderate to severe AD dementia (58). A long-term study with donepezil suggests greater cognitive benefits if donepezil therapy is started early in the course of AD (59).

4.1.3. Galantamine

Galantamine, a phenanthrene-derived alkaloid of the morphine group, is a potent, competitive and reversible inhibitor of AChE. It was for the first time isolated in 1956 by the Bulgarian scientists Paskov and Iwanova-Bubewa from the bulbs of snowdrops, Galanthum nivalis (60). *In* *vitro* inhibition measurements of AChE and BuChE in rat striatum and mouse forebrain homogenates demonstrated a distinct selectivity of galantamine for inhibiting AChE over BuChE (61). In addition, galantamine allosterically modulates nicotine receptor function in a positive manner (62). This effect could be beneficial for the treatment of AD considering a correlation of severity of cognitive impairment in AD with the loss of nicotinic receptors (63). Furthermore it is expected that prolonged direct activation may cause desensitization rather than increased activation of the remaining nicotine receptors.

Galantamine appears to exhibit also neuroprotective effects *in vitro* and *in vivo* (64). Moreover, it has been demonstrated to allosterically modulate rat microglial nicotine receptors (expressing the alpha7 subunit), thereby enhancing microglial Abeta phagocytosis (65). It is postulated that this mechanism may be involved in galantamine-enhanced Abeta clearance observed in the brains of Abeta-injected rats and APdE9 mice.

The clinical efficacy of galantamine on cognitive function is comparable to the other AChE inhibitors, rivastigmine and donepezil (41). Significant gains for people taking galantamine were also found for functional and global outcomes (40). The beneficial effect of galantamine sustained for up to 36 months in mild to moderate AD patients with 50 percent improvements over expected scores in untreated Alzheimer subjects (66).

4.2. Memantine

Memantine is currently the only approved drug for AD that targets the glutamatergic system by preventing excessive glutamatergic activity (13). Although memantine is indicated for the treatment of *moderate to severe* disease stages, it is often pre-scribed off-label for *mild* AD (67).

However, a meta-analysis of clinical trials on memantine in a total of 431 patients with mild AD came to the conclusion that memantine was ineffective (68). Also the benefits for patients with moderate AD were inconsistent. Support comes from multiple large-scale, controlled clinical studies, demonstrating efficacy against overall and individual items of cognitive function (69-70). A Cochrane review concluded that memantine at a dosage of 20 mg per day over six months had a slight positive effect on cognition (71). In addition, memantine improved behavioural scores, and in particular, subscales associated with agitation and aggressive behaviour (72).

Memantine is generally well tolerated and is often used in combination with AChE inhibitors. It is, however, controversially, discussed whether it produces clinically meaningful improvements (13, 42, 67). In patients with mild disease, combination therapy has shown no significant benefits over monotherapy with AChE inhibitors.

4.3. Conclusion

A clinical benefit based on symptomatic treatment with AChE inhibitors and/or memantine is widely assumed to last only for 6 to 12 months. Although this therapeutic window period appears rather limited at first glance it should be considered that interventions that could delay both disease onset and progression by only 1 year, would lead to nearly 9.2. million fewer expected cases of the disease in 2050 (1). Moreover, several studies show AChE inhibitors to slow cognitive decline for a period of 3 - 5 years and being more effective if AChE therapy is started early in the course of AD (73). Such an early onset of therapy appears reasonable in view of the neuroprotective effects suggested for some AChE inhibitors.

5. PROMISING NEW THERAPEUTIC APPROACHES

This section briefly summarizes promising approaches in the treatment of AD focused on neuroprotection targeted at either tau hyperphosphorylation or NMDA receptor-associated formation of reactive oxygen species.

Drugs targeting Abeta virtually failed to show a cognitive benefit in humans possibly because intervention in the Abeta cascade could only be successful at an early stage of the disease or even before developing any symptoms or specific AD hallmarks in the brain. For example, in clinical studies with several direct-acting (e.g. CTS-21166, LY2811376) and indirect-acting (e.g. ACI-91 corresponding to pirenzepine) beta-secretase inhibitors and several gamma-secretase inhibitors (e.g. avagacestat, JNJ-40418677 and semagacestat), there was a lack of efficacy or their use was associated with safety concerns (74). Early studies with solanezumab (LY2062430), a monoclonal antibody that binds to a soluble Abeta fragment suggested a decrease in the amount of Abeta in neuritic plaques by enhancing Abeta clearance from the body. However, two phase-3, double-blind trials (EXPEDITION 1 and EXPEDITION 2), including 1,012 and 1,040 patients, respectively, with mild-to-moderate AD failed to show a significant improvement in the primary outcomes, cognitive impairment and functional ability. The patients received placebo or solanezumab administered intravenously at monthly doses of 400 mg for 18 months. Also statistical re-analysis of EXPEDITION 2 focusing on patients with mild AD did not provide evidence for a clinical benefit of solanezumab (75). Currently, the efficacy of Abeta immunotherapies is investigated in early onset familial AD (18).

5.1. Drugs directed at tau pathology

Hyperphosphorylated tau representing the major protein of neurofibrillary tangles in AD is most probably the result of an imbalance of tau kinase and phosphatase activities in the affected neurons. Accordingly, inhibition of tau hyperphosphorylation appears a promising therapeutic approach in AD. As PP2A is a major regulator of tau phosphorylation that showed reduced enzymatic activity in AD (76), maintaining or restoring PP2A activity may prevent or counteract further progress of the disease, e.g. by reducing cleavage and translocation of I2(PP2A), an endogenous inhibitor of PP2A. This could be achieved by direct inhibition of I2(PP2A) or by inhibition of asparaginyl endopeptidase that causes cleavage of the inhibitor (19, 77). Also overexpression of GSK-3beta resulted in increased formation of NFTs. Consequently, chronic inhibition of GSK-3beta by lithium chloride significantly decreased the levels of hyperphosphorylated tau (78). Considering the potential toxicity of lithium Nunes *et al.* (2013) (79) studied the effect of lithium at a microdose of 300 μ g. The drug was administered to AD patients once daily for 15 months. The lithium-treated patients maintained the performance in the mini-mental state examination test in contrast to the control group with significant differences 3 months after the onset of treatment and progressively increasing thereafter. Accordingly, this clinical study shows clinical benefits of microdose-lithium therapy by preventing ongoing cognitive loss associated with AD (79).

Another study investigated the disease-modifying properties of long-term lithium treatment for amnestic and mild cognitive performance in 45 AD patients. The treatment group (n=24) titrated to target lithium serum levels of 0.2.5-0.5. mM exhibited significantly less levels of phosphorylated tau in the cerebrospinal fluid and improved performance on the cognitive subscale of the AD Assessment Scale and attention tasks. In healthy volunteers this concentration range of lithium caused a 50 percent reduction in GSK-3beta activity in leukocytes. Overall tolerability of lithium was good during the study with an adherence rate of 91 percent (80).

Jayaplan and Natarajan (2013) (81) investigated the tertiary structure of tau and the role of CDK5 and GSK-3beta in abnormal tau hyperphosphorylation. CDK5 appeared more relevant in tau hyperphosphorylation than GSK-3beta. Hence therapeutics that target CDK5 could be particularly promising in avoiding NFT formation. A strong correlation between elevated levels of phosphorylated tau and CDK5 was also observed in the APP/presenilin 1 mice (82).

In a clinical phase II study with methylene blue, this inhibitor of tau aggregation only a low dose (60 mg) showed improvement of memory function, whereas the higher dose (100 mg) failed to show any benefits (19).

Active and passive immunotherapy for tau significantly reduced density of NFTs as well as improved cognitive function in transgenic mouse models. Moreover, a tau-immunization based vaccine is currently tested in a phase I clinical trials investigating inhibition of the spread of the tau pathologies to the extracellular space. This clinical approach seems promising considering that extracellular tau is correlated with cognitive decline (19).

5.2. Combined treatment of memantine plus vitamin D

A dysfunction of glutamatergic neurotransmission is assumed being involved in AD. NMDA receptor over-excitation due to enhanced y combines O^{2-} under formation of peroxynitrite (OONO⁻). The free radicals as well as peroxynitrite damages neuronal DNA, membrane lipids and cell proteins in a dosedependent manner finally leading to delayed neuronal apoptosis as a consequence of multiple enzyme inactivation.

The clinical benefit of memantine is related to inhibition of massive calcium influx through NMDA receptors. Accordingly, glutamatergic neurons are protected from over-excitation, and consequently immediate neuronal necrosis can be avoided. However, as memantine exhibits low NMDA receptor affinity in conjunction with rapid association/dissociation kinetics the NMDA receptors remains functional in surviving cells and enables glutamate-induced calcium entry. Together with the Abeta-mediated up-regulation of LVSCC this constant calcium influx into the postsynaptic neurons may trigger oxidative stress and hence may induce apoptosis. Accordingly, combining memantine with a drug targeting the delayed neuronal apoptosis seems promising for prevention of NMDA receptor-associated formation of reactive oxygen species leading to apoptosis.

Vitamin D is a key regulator of intracellular and extracellular calcium homeostasis in the brain for example by decreasing the expression and density of the A β -targeted LVSCC-A1C channels (83-84). Α significant increase in hippocampus LVSCC channels was described to correlate with increased cell death. In addition, vitamin D day regulates the extracellular calcium-binding proteins calbindin-D28K, parvalbumin and calretinin that are suggested to play an important role in processes involved in neuroprotection and prevention of apoptosis (30, 86-86). Exposure of rat mesencephalic neurons to glutamate (1 mM for 10 min) caused significantly less damage if 100 nM vitamin D was substituted 24 h before exposure. Vitamin D may target due to its anti-oxidative properties controlling the intracellular free radicals produced by reactive species of oxygen and NO. Moreover, vitamin D is assumed to activity of gamma-glutamyl influence the transpeptidase, a key regulator of the antioxidant glutathione metabolism (30, 87).

As vitamin D is known to have neuroprotective effects that include regulation of neuronal calcium homeostasis as well as antioxidant, neurotrophic and antiinflammatory properties, the combination of memantine plus vitamin D may provide enhanced protection against several degenerative processes linked to AD (30, 88).

5.3. Conclusion

AD is a multifactorial disease and the underlying pathomechanisms take place years before clinical onset. Accordingly, an adequate therapy should comprise inhibition of neuronal degeneration, stimulation of neuronal regeneration as well as symptomatic treatment by rebalancing the cholinergic input. Moreover, a reliable diagnostic is needed that detects an initial disease stage and thus allows an early initiation of therapy. In default of such an ideal therapeutic approach measures are recommended that may help to maintain neuronal plasticity by providing a functional biochemical microenvironment.

6. REFERENCES

1. R Brookmeyer, E Johnson, K Ziegler-Graham, HM Arrighi: Forecasting the global burden of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement* 3, 186-191 (2007)

2. PK Mölsä, RJ Marttila, and UK Rinne: Survival and Cause of Death in Alzheimer's Disease and Multi-Infarct Dementia. *Acta Neurol Scand* 74, 103-107 (1986)

3. Alzheimer's Association: Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimer's Association web site [http://www.alz.org/documents_custom/report_alzfactsfigu res2010.pdf], accessed September 22, 2010 (2010)

4. M Sabbagh, J Cummings: Progressive cholinergic decline in Alzheimer's Disease: consideration for treatment with donepezil 23 mg in patients with moderate to severe symptomatology. *BMC Neurol* 11, 21 (2011)

5. R Schliebs, T Arendt: The significance of the cholinergic system in the brain during aging and in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neural Transm* 113, 1625-1644 (2006)

6. K Herholz, S F Carter, M Jones: Positron emission tomography imaging in dementia. *Br J Radiol*, 80, S160-S167 (2007)

7. M Iyo, H Namba, K Fukushi H Shinotoh, S Nagatsuka, T Suhara, Y Sudo, K Suzuki, T Irie: Measurement of acetylcholinesterase by positron emission tomography in the brains of healthy controls and patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet* 349, 1805-1809 (1997)

8. NI Bohnen, DI Kaufer, R Hendrickson, LS Ivanco, B Lopresti, JG Davis, G Constantine, CA Mathis, RY Moore, ST DeKosky: Cognitive correlates of alterations in acetylcholinesterase in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci Lett* 380, 127-132 (2005)

9. SJ Teipel, WH Flatz, H Heinsen, AL Bokde, SO Schoenberg, S Stockel, O Dietrich, MF Reiser, HJ Moller, H Hampel: Measurement of basal forebrain atrophy in Alzheimer's disease using MRI. *Brain* 128, 2626-2644 (2005)

10. G Grossberg, P Irwin, A Satlin, P Mesenbrink, R Spiegel: Rivastigmine in Alzheimer's disease: efficacy over two years. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 12, 420-431 (2004)

11. JH Morrison, PR Hof: Life and death of neurons in the aging brain. *Science* 278, 412-419 (1997)

12. K Wakabayashi, M Narisawa-Saito, Y Iwakura, T Arai, K Ikeda, H Takahashi, H Nawa: Phenotypic downregulation of glutamate receptor subunit GluR1 in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 20, 287–295 (1999)

13. PT Francis, CG Parsons, RW Jones: Rationale for combining glutamatergic and cholinergic approaches in the symptomatic treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Expert rev Neurother* 12, 1351-1365 (2012)

14. PE Potter: Investigational Medications for Treatment of Patients With Alzheimer's disease. *J Am Osteopath Assoc* 110, S27-S36 (2010)

15. S Gilman: Alzheimer's disease. *Perspect Biol Med* 40, 230-245 (1997)

16. K Blennow, MJ de Leon, H Zetterberg: Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet* 368, 387-403 (2006)

17. L Li, C Holscher: Common pathological processes in Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes: a review. *Brain Res Rev* 56, 384-402 (2007)

18. M Pallàs, A Camins: Molecular and biochemical features in Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Pharm Des* 12, 4389-4408 (2006)

19. K Iqbal, F Liu, C Gong: Alzheimer's disease therapeutics: focus on the disease and not just plaques and tangles. *Biochem Pharmacol*, in press (2014). doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2014.01.002

20. C Sims-Robinson, B Kim, A Rosko, EL Feldman: How does diabetes accelerate Alzheimer's disease pathology? *Nat Rev Neurol* 6, 551-559 (2010)

21. JS Miners, N Barua, PG Kehoe, S Gill, S Love: Abetadegrading enzymes: potential for treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 70, 944–959 (2011)

22. W Klein: Review: Synaptotoxic Amyloid-Oligomers: A Molecular Basis for the Cause, Diagnosis and Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease? *J Alzheimers Dis* 33, S49-S65 (2013)

23. PN Lacor, M Buniel, L Chang, S Fernandez, Y Gong, K Viola, M Lambert, P Velasco, E Bigio, C Finch, G Krafft, W Klein: Synaptic targeting by Alzheimer's-related amyloid beta oligomers. *J Neurosci* 24, 10191-10200 (2004)

24. F De Felice, D Wu, M Lambert, S Fernandez, P Velasco, P Lacor, E Bigio, J Jerecic, P Acton, P Shughrue, E Chen-Dodson, G Kinney, W Klein: Alzheimer's disease-type neuronal tau hyperphosphorylation induced by A beta oligomers. *Neurobiol Aging* 29, 1334-1347 (2008)

25. H Zempel, E Mandelkow: Linking amyloid-beta and tau: Amyloid-beta induced synaptic dysfunction via local wreckage of the neuronal cytoskeleton. *Neurodegener Dis* 10, 64-72 (2012)

26. E Kopke, YC Tung, S Shaikh, AC Alonso, K Iqbal, I Grundke-Iqbal: Microtubule-associated protein tau. Abnormal phosphorylation of a non-paired helical filament pool in Alzheimer's disease. *J Biol Chem* 268, 24374-24384 (1993)

27. K Hensley, N Floyd Zheng, R Nael, K Robinson, X Nguyen, Q Pye, C Stewart, J Geddes, W Markesbery, E Patel, G Johnson, G Bing: P38 kinase is activated in the Alzheimer's disease brain. *J Neurochem* 72, 2053–2058 (1999)

28. L Munoz, A Ammit: Targeting p38 MAPK pathway for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropharmacology* 58, 561–568 (2010)

29. K Iqbal, I Grundke-Iqbal: Metabolic/signal transduction hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease and other tauopathies. *Acta Neuropathol* 109, 25-31 (2005)

30. C Annweiler, O Beauchet: Possibility of a new antialzheimer's disease pharmaceutical composition combining memantine and vitamin D. *Drugs Aging* 29, 81-91(2012)

31. G Small, L Ercoli, D Silverman, S Huang, S Komo, S Bookheimer, H Lavretsky, K Miller, P Siddarth, N Rasgon, J Mazziotta, S Saxena, H Wu, M Mega, J Cummings, A Saunders, M Pericak-Vance, A Roses, J Barrio, M Phelps: Cerebral metabolic and cognitive decline in persons at genetic risk for Alzheimer's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97, 6037-6042 (2000)

32. W Brecht, F Harris, S Chang, I Tesseur, G. Q. Yu, Q. Xu, J. Dee Fish, T. Wyss-Coray, M. Buttini, L. Mucke, R. W. Mahley, and Y. Huang Y: Neuron-specific apolipoprotein e4 proteolysis is associated with increased tau phosphorylation in brains of transgenic mice. *J Neurosci* 24, 2527-2534 (2004)

33. PV Arriagada, JH Growdon, ET Hedley-Whyte, BT Hyman: Neurofibrillary tangles but not senile plaques parallel duration and severity of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology* 42, 631-639 (1992)

34. GS Watson, S Craft: Modulation of memory by insulin and glucose: neuropsychological observations in Alzheimer's disease. *Eur J Pharmacol* 490, 97-113 (2004)

35. F Liu, J Shi, H Tanimukai, J Gu, J Gu, I Grundke-Iqbal, K Iqbal, and CX Gong: Reduced O-GlcNAcylation links lower brain glucose metabolism and tau pathology in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 132, 1820-1832 (2009)

36. E Steen, B Terry, E Rivera, J Cannon, T Neely, R Tavares, X Xu, J Wands, S de la Monte: Impaired insulin and insulinlike growth factor expression and signaling mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease – is this type 3 diabetes? *J Alzheimers Dis* 7, 63-80 (2005)

37. M Schubert, DP Brazil, JA Kushner, J Ye, CL Flint, J Farhang-Fallah, P Dikkes, XM Warrot, C Rio, G Corfas, MF White: Insulin receptor substrate-2 deficiency impairs brain growth and promotes tau phosphorylation. *J Neurosci* 23, 7084-7092 (2003)

38. J Lee, MS Kim: The role of GSK3 in glucose homeostasis and the development of insulin resistance. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 77 (Suppl 1), S49-S57 (2007)

39. Y Balaraman, A Limaye, AI Levey, S Srinivasan: Glycogen synthase kinase 3β and Alzheimer's disease: pathophysiological and therapeutic significance. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 63, 1226-1235 (2006) 40. M Bond, G Rogers, J Peters, R Anderson, M Hoyle, A Miners, T Moxham, S Davis, P Thokala, A Wailoo, M Jeffreys, C Hyde: The effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of donepezil, galantamine, rivastigmine and memantine for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease (review of Technology Appraisal No. 111): a systematic review and economic model. *Health Technol Assess* 16, 1-470 (2012)

41. RA Hansen, G Gartlehner, AP Webb, LC Morgan, CG Moore, DE Jonas: Efficacy and safety of donepezil, galantamine, and rivastigmine for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Clin Interv Aging* 3, 211-225 (2008)

42. Winslow B. T., M. K. Onysko, C.M. Stob, and K.A. Hazlewood: Treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Am Fam Physician* 83,1403-1412 (2011)

43. N Herrmann, A Li, K Lanctôt: Memantine in dementia: a review of the current evidence. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* 12, 787-800 (2011)

44. R Schliebs, T Arendt: The significance of the cholinergic system in the brain during aging and in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neural Transm* 113, 1625-1644 (2006)

45. IA Lockhart, SA Mitchell, S Kelly: Safety and tolerability of donepezil, rivastigmine and galantamine for patients with Alzheimer's disease: systematic review of the 'real-world' evidence. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* 28, 389-403 (2009)

46. S Dhillon: Rivastigmine transdermal patch: a review of its use in the management of dementia of the Alzheimer's type. *Drugs* 71, 1209-1231 (2011)

47. A Venneri, WJ McGeown, MF Shanks: Empirical evidence of neuroprotection by dual cholinesterase inhibition in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroreport* 16, 107-110 (2005)

48. AK Desai, GT Grossberg: Rivastigmine for Alzheimer's disease. *Expert Rev Neurother* 5, 563-80 (2005)

49. BR Williams, A Nazarians, MA Gill: A review of rivastigmine: a reversible cholinesterase inhibitor. *Clin Ther* 25, 1634-1653 (2003)

50. J Birks, J Grimley Evans, V Iakovidou, M Tsolaki, FE Holt: Rivastigmine for Alzheimer's disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2, CD001191 (2009)

51. GW Smal., D Kaufer, MS Mendiondo, P Quarg, R Spiegel: Cognitive performance in Alzheimer's disease patients receiving rivastigmine for up to 5 years. *Int J Clin Pract* 59, 473-477 (2005)

52 GT Grossberg, C Sadowsky, JT Olin: Rivastigmine transdermal system for the treatment of mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease. *Int J Clin Pract* 64, 651-60 (2010)

53. RS Doody, JL Cummings, MR Farlow: Reviewing the role of donepezil in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Alzheimer Res* 9, 773-781 (2012)

54. DG Wilkinson: The pharmacology of donepezil: a new treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* 1, 121-135 (1999)

55. S Akasofu, M Kimura, T Kosasa, K Sawada, H Ogura: Study of neuroprotection of donepezil, a therapy for Alzheimer's disease. *Chem Biol Interact* 175, 222-226 (2008)

56. M Hashimoto, H Kazui, K Matsumoto, Y Nakano, M Yasuda, E Mori: Does donepezil treatment slow the progression of hippocampal atrophy in patients with Alzheimer's disease? *Am J Psychiatry* 162, 676-682 (2005)

57. JS Birks, R Harvey: Donepezil for dementia due to Alzheimer's disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 3, CD001190 (2003)

58. JL Cummings, D Geldmacher, M Farlow, M Sabbagh, D Christensen, P Betz: High-dose donepezil (23 mg/day) for the treatment of moderate and severe Alzheimer's disease: drug profile and clinical guidelines. *CNS Neurosci Ther* 19, 294-301 (2013)

59. B Winblad, A Wimo, K Engedal, H Soininen, F Verhey, G Waldemar, AL Wetterholm, A Haglund, R Zhang, R Schindler: 3-year study of donepezil therapy in Alzheimer's disease: effects of early and continuous therapy. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* 21, 353-363 (2006)

60. C Allgaier, T Arendt: Galantamin, ein Acetylcholinesterase-Inhibitor mit besonderen Eigenschaften. *Med Monatsschr Pharm* 27, 223-227 (2004)

61. GM Bores, FP Huger, W Petko, AE Mutlib, F Camacho, DK Rush, DE Selk, V. Wolf, R. W. Kosley Jr., L. Davis, and H. M. Vargas: Pharmacological evaluation of novel Alzheimer's Disease therapeutics: Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors related to Galantamine. J Pharmacol Experiment Therapeutics 277, 728-738 (1996)

62. A Maelicke, EX Albuquerque: Allosteric modulation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors as a treatment strategy for Alzheimer's disease. *Eur J Pharmacol* 393, 165-170 (2000)

63. E Perry, C Martin-Ruiz, M Lee, M Griffiths, M Johnson, M Piggott, V Haroutunian, JD Buxbaum, J Nãsland, K Davis, C Gotti, F Clementi, S Tzartos, O Cohen, H Soreq, E Jaros, R Perry, C Ballard, I McKeith, J Court: Nicotinic receptor subtypes in human brain ageing, Alzheimer and Lewy body diseases. *Eur J Pharmacol* 393, 215–222 (2000)

64. T Yanagida, H Takeuchi, Y Kitamura, K Takata, H Minamino, T Shibaike, J Tsushima, K Kishimoto, H Yasui, T Taniguchi, S Shimohama: Synergistic effect of galantamine on nicotine-induced neuroprotection in hemiparkinsonian rat model. Neurosci Res 62, 254-261 (2008)

65. K Takata, Y Kitamura, M Saeki, M Terada, S Kagitani, R Kitamura, Y Fujikawa, A Maelicke, H Tomimoto, T Taniguchi, S Shimohama: Galantamine-induced amyloidbeta clearance mediated via stimulation of microglial nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *J Biol Chem* 285, 40180-40191 (2010)

66. MA Raskind, ER Peskind, L Truyen, P Kershaw, CV Damaraju: The cognitive benefits of galantamine are sustained for at least 36 months: a long-term extension trial. *Arch Neurol* 61, 252-256 (2004)

67. S Schwarz, L Froelich, A Burns: Pharmacological treatment of dementia. *Curr Opin Psychiatry* 25, 542-550 (2012)

68. LS Schneider, KS Dagerman, JP Higgins, R McShane: Lack of evidence for the efficacy of memantine in mild Alzheimer's disease. *Arch Neurol* 68, 991-998 (2011)

69. B Reisberg, R Doody, A Stöffler, F Schmitt, S Ferris, HJ Möbius: Memantine Study Group. Memantine in moderate-to-severe Alzheimer's disease. *N Engl J Med* 348, 1333-1341 (2003)

70. B Winblad, RW Jones, Y Wirth, A Stöffler, HJ Möbius: Memantine in moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease: a meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* 24, 20-27 (2007)

71. R McShane, A Areosa Sastre, N Minakaran: Memantine for dementia. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2, CD003154 (2006)

72. S Gauthier, SH Loft, J Cummings: Improvement in behavioural symptoms in patients with moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease by memantine: a pooled data analysis. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 23, 537–545 (2008)

73. KA Wollen:Alzheimer's disease: the pros and cons of pharmaceutical, nutritional, botanical, and stimulatory therapies, with a discussion of treatment strategies from the perspective of patients and practitioners. *Altern Med Rev* 15, 223-44 (2010)

74. JA Mikulca, V Nguyen , DA Gajdosik, SG Teklu, EA Giunta, EA Lessa, CH Tran, EC Terak, RB Raffa: Potential novel targets for Alzheimer pharmacotherapy: II. Update on secretase inhibitors and related approaches. *J Clin Pharm Ther* 39, 25-37 (2014)

75. RS Doody, RG Thomas, M Farlow, T Iwatsubo, B Vellas, S Joffe, K Kieburtz, R Raman, X Sun, PS Aisen, E Siemers, H Liu-Seifert, R Mohs: Phase 3 trials of solanezumab for mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's disease. *N Engl J Med* 370, 311-321 (2014)

76. CX Gong, T Lidsky, J Wegiel, L Zuck, I Grundke-Iqbal, K Iqbal: Phosphorylation of microtubule-associated protein tau is regulated by protein phosphatase 2A in mammalian brain. Implications for neurofibrillary degeneration in Alzheimer's disease. *J Biol Chem* 275, 5535-5544 (2000)

77. H Tanimukai, H., I. Grundke-Iqbal, and K. Iqbal: Upregulation of inhibitors of protein phosphatase-2A in Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Pathol* 166, 1761–1771 (2005)

78. A Camins, E. Verdaguer , F Junyent, M Yeste-Velasco, C Pelegrí, J Vilaplana, M Pallás: Potential mechanisms involved in the prevention of neurodegenerative diseases by lithium. *CNS Neurosci Ther* 15, 333-44 (2009)

79. MA Nunes, TA Viel, HS Buck: Microdose lithium treatment stabilized cognitive impairment in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Alzheimer Res* 10, 104-107 (2013)

80. O Forlenza, B Diniz, M Radanovic, F Santos, L Talib, W Gattaz: Disease-modifying properties of long-term lithium treatment for amnestic mild cognitive impairment: randomized controlled trial. *Br J Psychiatry* 198, 351-6 (2011)

81. S Jayapalan, J Natarajan: The role of CDK5 and GSK3B kinases in hyperphosphorylation of microtubule associated protein tau (MAPT) in Alzheimer's disease. *Bioinformation* 9, 1023-1030 (2013)

82. D Ahmed, M Sharma: Cyclin-Dependant Kinase 5/p35/p39: A Novel and Imminent Therapeutic Target for Diabetes Mellitus. *Int J Endocrinol* Article ID 530274, 1-10 (2011)

83. R Ho, D Ortiz, TB Shea: Amyloid-beta promotes calcium influx and neurodegeneration via stimulation of L voltagesensitive calcium channels rather than NMDA channels in cultured neurons. *J Alzheimers Dis* 3, 479-483 (2011)

84. E Bonfoco D Krainc, M Ankarcrona, P Nicotera, SA Lipton: Apoptosis and necrosis: two distinct events induced, respectively, by mild and intense insults with N-methyl-D-aspartate or nitric oxide/superoxide in cortical cell cultures. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*; 92, 7162-7166 (1995)

85. GE Hardingham: Coupling of the NMDA receptor to neuroprotective and neurodestructive events. *Biochem Soc Trans* 37, 1147-1160 (2009)

86. LD Brewer, V Thibault, KC Chen, MC Langub, PW Landfield, N. M Porter: Vitamin D hormone confers neuroprotection in parallel with downregulation of L-type calcium channel expression in hippocampal neurons. *J Neurosci* 21, 98-108 (2011)

87. E Dursun, D Gezen-Ak, S Yilmaze: A novel perspective for Alzheimer's disease: vitamin D receptor

suppression by amyloid-b induced alterations by vitamin D in cortical neurons. *J Alzheimers Dis* 23, 207-219 (2011)

88. ME Alexianu, E Robbins, S Carswell, and SH Appel: 1Alpha, 25 dihydroxyvitamin D3-dependent up-regulation of calcium-binding proteins in motoneuron cells. *J Neurosci Res* 51, 58-66 (1998)

89. JC McCann, B N Ames: Is there convincing biological or behavioral evidence linking vitamin D deficiency to brain dysfunction? *FASEB J* 22, 982-1001 (2008)

90. M Ibi, H Sawada, M Nakanishi, T Kume, H Katsuki, S Kaneko, S Shimohama, A Akaike: Protective effects of 1 alpha,25-(OH)(2)D(3) against the neurotoxicity of glutamate and reactive oxygen species in mesencephalic culture. *Neuropharmacology* 40, 761-771 (2001)

91. J Brown, JI Bianco, JJ McGrath, DW Eyles: 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 induces nerve growth factor, promotes neurite outgrowth and inhibits mitosis in embryonic rat hippocampal neurons. *Neurosci Lett* 343, 139-143 (2003)

Key Words: Alzheimer's disease, Acetylcholine esterase inhibitor, Memantine, NMDA, Beta-amyloid, Neurofibrillary tangles, Tau hyperphosporylation, Review

Send correspondence to: Clemens Allgaier, ACA-pharma concept GmbH, Deutscher Platz 5, 04103 Leipzig, Germany, Tel: 0049 341 337 333 61, Fax: 0049 341 337 333 61, E-mail: clemens.allgaier@aca-pharma.de